
 
FRANKLIN CITY HALL CHAMBERS 

9229 W. LOOMIS ROAD 

 FRANKLIN, WISCONSIN 

 

 

 

 

PLAN COMMISSION MEETING AGENDA 

Thursday, September 7, 2023 at 7:00 P.M. 

               

 
A.   Call to Order and Roll Call 
 
B.  Approval of Minutes 
 

1. Approval of regular meeting of August 17, 2023. 
 

C. Public Hearing Business Matters  
(Action may be taken on all matters following the respective Public Hearing thereon) 

 
1. Dairy Queen Restaurant with Drive-Through. Special Use application by Dharmesh 

Ghelani, AK Developers LLC/ Franklin Wyndham LLC, property owner, for a Dairy Queen 
restaurant in a single building with a drive-through (drive-through requires Special Use 
approval). The property is located at 7730 S. Lovers Lane Rd. in the Shoppes at Wyndham 
Village Retail Center. The property is zoned CC Civic Center; Tax Key No. 794 9999 007. A 
public hearing is scheduled for this matter. 

 
D. Business Matters  
 

1. Tuckaway Country Club Golf Simulator Tent. Temporary Use application by Jay Lorino, 
Leading Edge Management Solutions, LLC/ Tuckaway Country Club, property owner, for a 
golf simulator tent in the rear golf cart parking area for the period of time between 
October 23, 2023 and March 31, 2024, operating from 7:00AM to 9:00PM with the 
potential to extend operation until 11:59PM for special events as needed. The property is 
zoned P-1 Park District; Tax Key No. 804 9989 022. 

 
E. Adjournment 

 

 

The YouTube channel “City of Franklin WI” will be live streaming the Plan Commission meeting so that the public will 

be able to watch and listen to the meeting.  https://www.youtube.com/c/CityofFranklinWIGov. Any question regarding 

items on this agenda may be directed to the Department of City Development’s office at 414-425-4024, Monday 

through Friday, 8:30 AM – 5:00 PM. 

 

Notice is given that a quorum of other governmental bodies may be present at this meeting to present, discuss 

and/or gather information about a subject over which they have decision-making responsibility, although they will not 

take formal action thereto at this meeting.  

 

Upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate 

aids and services.  For additional information, contact the City Clerk’s office at (414) 425-7500. 

 

REMINDERS: 

Next Regular Plan Commission Meeting: September 21, 2023.  

  

https://www.youtube.com/c/CityofFranklinWIGov


  

 

City of Franklin unapproved 

Plan Commission Meeting 

August 17, 2023 

Minutes 

 

A. Call to Order and Roll Call 

Mayor John Nelson called the August 17, 2023 regular Plan Commission meeting to order at 7:00 

p.m. in the Council Chambers at Franklin City Hall, 9229 West Loomis Road, Franklin, Wisconsin.  

 

Present were Mayor John Nelson, Alderwoman Courtney Day, City Engineer Glen Morrow and 

Commissioners Kevin Haley, Patrick Léon and Patricia Hogan. Also present were Director of 

Administration Kelly Hersh, Principal Planner Régulo Martínez-Montilva and City Attorney Jesse 

Wesolowski. 

 

B. Approval of Minutes – Regular Meeting of August 3, 2023 

Commissioner Hogan moved and Commissioner Haley seconded a motion to approve the August 

3, 2023 meeting minutes. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (5-0-0). 

 

C. Public Hearing Business Matters 

 

1.   Bion Strength and Conditioning LLC Special Use. Special Use request to allow for a sports 

training facility in a multi-tenant building located in the M-1 Limited Industrial zoning district. 

Sports training facilities are classified as “Physical Fitness Facilities” under Standard Industrial 

Classification (SIC) Title No. 7991. 

 Applicant:  Bion Strength and Conditioning LLC (Specter Holdings LLC, property owner) 

      Subject property:  6814 S. 112th Street, Tax Key Number: 748 0063 000  

 

         Principal Planner Regulo Martinez-Montilva presented this item and the Public Hearing 

opened at 6:59 pm and closed at 7:06 pm.  

 

         Spector Holdings LLC, property owner, commented about having issues with the 10 foot 

parking lot setback that is part of the recommended conditions of approval. The parking lot 

was recently repaved in the existing location. The property owner also commented it is not an 

option for either him or the tenant to absorb cost to improve the parking lot, however the 

property owner does not see any issues restriping the lot or adding shrubs and plantings to 

improve landscaping. Owner is asking that the 10 foot setback requirement not be applied. 

 

         City Engineer Morrow asked that when restriping have the cars set back 10 feet. Property 

owner agrees but is only able to accommodate 4 spots in front and will maneuver the 

remaining spots around.  

 

 City Attorney suggests recommend approval subject to further review by staff under condition 

#4 and look at legal nonconforming status. 



  

 

 Mayor Nelson closed the public hearing.  

 

 Commissioner Hogan asked about signage. The property owner indicated future tenant would 

apply for and obtain a permit.  

 

 Commissioner Leon asked if a variance to allow for a reduction of the parking lot setback 

subject to approval by the Board of Zoning and Building Appeals would be an option for the 

property owner. Would there be enough time to meet a deadline for the September 20, 2023 

BZBA meeting? 

 

 Property owner responded and is willing to accommodate to meet the requirements. 

 

   City Engineer responded with leaving everything as written. 

 

 City Attorney Wesolowski added there’s an understanding staff would review condition 

number 4 with regard to parking setbacks and the length of time the existing parking lot has 

existed. 

 

City Engineer Morrow moved and Commissioner Leon seconded a motion to recommend 

approval of a Resolution imposing conditions and restrictions for the approval of a Special 

Use for a sports training facility use upon property located at 6814 S. 112th Street, (Bion 

Strength and Conditioning LLC, applicant) and as admitted by the City Attorney. On voice 

vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (5-0-0). 

 

D. Business Matters 

 

1.    None.  

 

 

E. Adjournment 

Commissioner Leon moved and Commissioner Hogan seconded to adjourn the meeting at 

7:16 p.m.. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (5-0-0). 



  

 1 

 C I T Y  O F  F R A N K L I N   

REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
Meeting of September 7, 2023 

Special Use  
 

RECOMMENDATION:  City Development Staff recommends the Plan Commission forward 
the Special Use application to the Common Council for decision based on the recommended 
draft Resolution with conditions as attached.   
Project Name: Dairy Queen Drive Through 
Property Owner: Franklin Wyndham LLC 
Applicant: Dharmesh Ghelani, AK Developers LLC  
Property Address/Tax Key Number: 7730 S Lovers Lane Rd / 794 9999 007 
Aldermanic District: District 2 
Agent: Dharmesh Ghelani, AK Developers LLC 
Zoning District:  CC Civic Center 
Use of Surrounding Properties: CC Civic Center (east, south, and west), R-3E 

Suburban/Estate Single-Family Residence District 
(south)  

Application Request: To allow for a restaurant with drive through 
Staff Planner: Marion Ecks, AICP 
 
 
Background 
The applicant is seeking a Special Use Permit for an approximately 2,000 sq. ft. Dairy Queen 
Drive Through restaurant. This site is part of the Shoppes at Wyndham Village; it is currently 
vacant. The site plan included in the meeting packet is a conceptual plan for a development 
with two businesses: the proposed Dairy Queen and a future tenant space. Pending Common 
Council’s approval of the Special Use Permit, Planning Commission will review a full site plan at 
a future meeting, pending the applicant’s submittal. 
 
SPECIAL USE 

The lot is zoned CC Civic Center. Eating Places (SIC Code 5812) are an allowed use; however, 
drive throughs require Special Use approval. The proposed drive-through use meets the 
requirements of the ordinance for queuing.   Due to the location close to residential properties, 
staff recommends that the hours of operation for the drive-through and the hours of operation 
for businesses in the development, be limited to no later than 10:00 PM as condition of approval 
for the Special Use, to mitigate adverse impacts on nearby residential properties.   
 

Item C.1. 



  

 2 

The Site Plan will be reviewed at a subsequent meeting, and must be responsive to Unified 
Development Ordinance (UDO) requirements relating to bufferyards and landscaping 
requirements.  The Commission may recommend additional requirements related to buffering 
or mitigation of negative impacts for the Special Use. 
 
Staff notes the following: 

• The applicant has provided required responses to, and complies with, the standards of §15-
3.0701: General Standards for Special Uses.  

• The development is consistent with the existing zoning requirements, and Future Land Use 
Comprehensive Master Plan intent for the district (§15-7.0102.M). 

• The conceptual Site Plan provides enough queuing space for cars to wait in the drive-
through without encroaching on internal roads, exceeding the standards of Table 15-5.0203 
which requires 7 queuing spaces per service lane. 

• Two other developments in the Shoppes at Wyndham Village include drive-through uses: 
the Summit Bank and Biggby Coffee. 

• Future users of the tenant space will be required to complete separate use approvals: either 
a Zoning Compliance or a Special Use depending on the business type. 

 
SITE COMPLIANCE 
A site visit was not performed in preparation for this staff report because the land is currently 
vacant. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Plan Commission may recommend, and the Common Council may impose, conditions and 
limitations on a Special Use application related to use,  design and operation (§15-3.0701.D).  
 
The Department of City Development staff recommends the Plan Commission forward the 
Special Use application to the Common Council for decision based on the recommended draft 
Resolution as attached. The resolution reflects recommended conditions of approval. 
 
Recommended Conditions of Approval 
• The hours of operation for the drive through shall be limited to no later than 10:00 P.M. 
• The hours of operation for business within the development shall be limited to no later 

than 10:00 P.M. 
 



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
     [Draft 08-31-23]  

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-_____ 
 

A RESOLUTION IMPOSING CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS FOR  
THE APPROVAL OF A SPECIAL USE FOR A DRIVE THROUGH RESTAURANT 

UPON PROPERTY LOCATED AT 7730 S LOVERS LANE RD. 
(BY DHARMESH GHELANI, AK DEVELOPERS LLC, APPLICANT,  

FRANKLIN WYNDHAM LLC, PROPERTY OWNER) 
              
 

WHEREAS, Dharmesh Ghelani, AK Developers, LLC having petitioned the City 
of Franklin for the approval of a Special Use for a restaurant with a drive-through, 
upon property located at 7730 S Lovers Lane Rd., zoned CC Civic Center.  The 
property which is the subject of the application bears Tax Key No. 794 9999 007and 
is more particularly described as follows: 
 

Lot 3 of Certified Survey Map No. 8567, recorded in the Office of the 
Register of Deeds for Milwaukee County, Wisconsin, on November 21, 
2013. As Document No. 10315111; being a Redivision of Lot 1 of 
Certified Survey Map No. 8000, being a Redivision of Parcel 1 of 
Certified Survey Map 5762, Certified Survey Map No. 377, and lands in 
the Southwest Quarter and the Northwest Quarter of the Southeast 
Quarter of Section 8, Township 5 North, Range 21 East; said lands being 
in the City of Franklin, County of Milwaukee, State of Wisconsin; and 
 

 WHEREAS, such petition having been duly referred to the Plan Commission of 
the City of Franklin for a public hearing, pursuant to the requirements of §15-
9.0103D. of the Unified Development Ordinance, and a public hearing having been 
held before the Plan Commission on the 7th day of September, 2023, and the Plan 
Commission thereafter having determined to recommend that the proposed Special 
Use be approved, subject to certain conditions, and the Plan Commission further 
finding that the proposed Special Use upon such conditions, pursuant to §15-3.0701 
of the Unified Development Ordinance, will be in harmony with the purposes of the 
Unified Development Ordinance and the Comprehensive Master Plan; that they will 
not have an undue adverse impact upon adjoining property; that they will not 
interfere with the development of neighboring property; that they will be served 
adequately by essential public facilities and services; that they will not cause undue 



DHARMESH GHELANI, AK DEVELOPERS LLC – SPECIAL USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-_____ 
Page 2 
 
 
traffic congestion; and that they will not result in damage to property of significant 
importance to nature, history or the like; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Common Council having received such Plan Commission 
recommendation and also having found that the proposed Special Use, subject to 
conditions, meet the standards set forth under §15-3.0701 of the Unified 
Development Ordinance. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Common Council of 
the City of Franklin, Wisconsin, that the petition of Dharmesh Ghelani, AK 
Developers, LLC, for the approval of a Special Use for the property particularly 
described in the preamble to this Resolution, be and the same is hereby approved, 
subject to the following conditions and restrictions: 
 

1. That this Special Use is approved only for the use of the subject property 
by Dharmesh Ghelani, AK Developers, LLC , successors and assigns, for a 
restaurant with a drive-through use, which shall be developed in 
substantial compliance with, and operated and maintained by Dharmesh 
Ghelani, AK Developers, LLC , pursuant to those plans City file-stamped 
August 28, 2023 and annexed hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit A. 

2. Dharmesh Ghelani, AK Developers, LLC , successors and assigns, shall pay 
to the City of Franklin the amount of all development compliance, 
inspection and review fees incurred by the City of Franklin, including fees 
of consults to the City of Franklin, for the Dharmesh Ghelani, AK 
Developers, LLC restaurant with a drive-through Special Use, within 30 
days of invoice for same.  Any violation of this provision shall be a violation 
of the Unified Development Ordinance, and subject to §15-9.0502 thereof 
and §1-19 of the Municipal Code, the general penalties and remedies 
provisions, as amended from time to time. 

3. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon the Dharmesh 
Ghelani, AK Developers, LLC restaurant with a drive-through Special Use 
for the property located at 5444 West Rawson Avenue:  (i) being in 
compliance with all applicable governmental laws, statutes, rules, codes, 
orders and ordinances; and (ii) obtaining all other governmental approvals, 



DHARMESH GHELANI, AK DEVELOPERS LLC – SPECIAL USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-_____ 
Page 3 
 
 

permits, licenses and the like, required for and applicable to the project to 
be developed and as presented for this approval.    

4. The hours of operation for the drive through shall be limited to no later 
than 10:00 P.M. 

5. The hours of operation for business within the Dairy Queen development 
shall be limited to no later than 10:00 P.M. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that in the event Dharmesh Ghelani, AK 
Developers, LLC , successors or assigns, or any owner of the subject property, does 
not comply with one or any of the conditions and restrictions of this Special Use 
Resolution, following a ten (10) day notice to cure, and failure to comply within such 
time period, the Common Council, upon notice and hearing, may revoke the Special 
Use permission granted under this Resolution. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that any violation of any term, condition or 
restriction of this Resolution is hereby deemed to be, and therefore shall be, a 
violation of the Unified Development Ordinance, and pursuant to §15-9.0502 thereof 
and §1-19 of the Municipal Code, the penalty for such violation shall be a forfeiture 
of no more than $2,500.00, or such other maximum amount and together with such 
other costs and terms as may be specified therein from time to time.  Each day that 
such violation continues shall be a separate violation.  Failure of the City to enforce 
any such violation shall not be a waiver of that or any other violation. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be construed to be such 
Special Use Permit as is contemplated by §15-9.0103 of the Unified Development 
Ordinance. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, pursuant to §15-9.0103G. of the Unified 
Development Ordinance, that the Special Use permission granted under this 
Resolution shall be null and void upon the expiration of one year from the date of 
adoption of this Resolution, unless the Special Use has been established by way of 
the issuance of an occupancy permit for such use. 
 



DHARMESH GHELANI, AK DEVELOPERS LLC – SPECIAL USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-_____ 
Page 4 
 
 

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, that the City Clerk be and is hereby directed to 
obtain the recording of a certified copy of this Resolution in the Office of the 
Register of Deeds for Milwaukee County, Wisconsin. 
  
 Introduced at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of 
Franklin this _______ day of ____________________, 2023. 
 

Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City 
of Franklin this _______ day of ____________________, 2023. 
 
       APPROVED: 
 
 
       _________________________________  
       John R. Nelson, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________       
Karen L. Kastenson, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

7730 S. Lovers Lane Road
TKN  794 9999 007

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

R-3E

CC  

R-5 

B-1 

I-1 

R-8 

C-1 

LO
VE

RS
 LA

NE
    

    
    

    
    

RD
  

DREXEL                         AVE  

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 340 680170 Feet

Property

 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

7730 S. Lovers Lane Road
TKN  794 9999 007

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

LO
VE

RS
 LA

NE
    

    
    

    
    

RD
  

DREXEL                         AVE  

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 340 680170 Feet

Property

 



1 
 

August 14, 2023 
 
Project Narrative:  Special Use Application for a proposed drive-through use 
 
We are proposing to construct an approximately 2,200 square foot drive-through restaurant 
upon property located at 7730 S. Lovers Lane Road. The restaurant will be a Dairy Queen Grill 
and Chill with seating for up to 46 customers. The proposed building would also contain roughly 
5,700 square feet of additional retail space. It is anticipated that this will consist of two 
additional tenants. The users of this space will be subject to future use approvals as determined 
necessary by the City of Franklin and Unified Development Ordinance.  
 
Currently only the Dairy Queen drive-through use is being requested for approval. Detailed site 
and building plans will be submitted following approval of the Special Use. 
 
Responses to Section 15-3.0701, General Standards for Special Uses, have been provided as 
well as a conceptual site plan. Furthermore, responses have been provided that address all staff 
comments received in the August 11, 2023 Department of City Development review letter.  
 
It should be noted that it is our intent to maintain and preserve the existing landscape buffer 
along the north property line. Moreover, hours of operations will be limited to 10:00 p.m. for 
the proposed restaurant and drive-through use. Sufficient parking will be provided, and lighting 
will be designed and consistent with the existing lighting at the shopping center. As such, there 
are no adverse impacts to the surrounding area.  
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
Dharmesh Ghelani 
 
 
  















1 
 

City of Franklin Department of City Development 
Date:  August 11, 2023 
To: Dharmesh Ghelani, AK Developers LLC 
From: City Development Staff 
RE: Dairy Queen Special Use for Drive Through 

 
Department comments are as follows for the Dairy Queen Special Use for a Drive 
Through submitted by Dharmesh Ghelani, AK Developers LLC on 06/08/2023. The 
lot is zoned CC City Civic Center District. Drive through facilities require Special 
Use approval. 
 
Department of City Development  

1. How many employees will work out of this site?  
 

It is anticipated that a maximum of four employees will be onsite at any 
given time for the Dairy Queen use.  
 
Approximately ten employees are anticipated for all prospective tenants of 
the multi-tenant retail building; however, this will be dependent upon 
future approved uses.   

 
2. What are the proposed hours of operation? 

 
The hours of operations for the Dairy Queen restaurant are from 10:00 
a.m. to 10:00 p.m., seven days a week. 

 
3. Conceptual Site Sketch 1b shows a single building with drive through and 

an undeveloped area.  Is the applicant proposing a phased development 
with multiple drive-throughs, or a land division?   

 
Please see the attached site plan, which illustrates an existing building with 
a single drive-through. A second drive-through is not anticipated.  
 
The development will be completed within a single phase.  
 
A land division is not anticipated.  

 
Special Use: 



2 
 

4. The applicant has provided required responses. The application complies 
with the standards of §15-3.0701: General Standards for Special Uses. 

a. Staff recommends that the approval be responsive to the 
requirements of §5-3.0701.C.3: Mitigation of Adverse Impacts.   

i. Please see comments on the conceptual site plan for 
recommendations on site design 

 
The site will be designed to address staff comments and 
mitigate any adverse impacts to the surrounding area. With 
that said, it is not anticipated that the proposed uses and 
development will have any adverse impacts.  
 
This is a retail development within an existing 
commercial/retail shopping center.  
 
The existing landscape buffer will be utilized, as well as 
additional plantings, to continue to buffer the shopping 
center from adjacent uses, particularly the single-family 
residential subdivision to the north. 
 
Lighting will be designed with the neighborhood in mind 
and the restaurant will be open no later than 10:00 p.m. 
  

ii. Staff recommends limiting the hours of operation to no later 
than 10:00 P.M. 

 
10:00 p.m. is acceptable.  

 
5. Note that the Plan Commission may recommend, and the Common 

Council may impose, conditions and limitations on a Special Use 
application related to use, design and operation (§15-3.0701.D). 

 
Understood.  

 
Conceptual Site Plan 

Site Plan Applications must meet the general principles and standards of review 
under Division §15-7.0100. 

6. Note that §15-5.0108 requires an increased setback of 40’ along arterial 
streets and highways. 



3 
 

 
Please be aware that upon submittal of a detailed site plan, it will be 
requested that this increased setback requirement be exempted in 
accordance with Note (c) of Table 15-3.0307A. of Section 15-3.0307C.  

 
7. Sign location and dimensions require separate permitting.  While the 

planned location of the proposed monument sign should be shown, the 
site plan review does not constitute approval of the location of the sign or 
the sign itself. 

 
Understood.  

 
8. Shared Signage for the Shoppes at Wyndham Village is located on this 

property – removal requires Master Sign Program Amendment. 
 

The existing signage is not proposed to be removed.  
 

9. Buferyards (§15-7.0102.H ) are required on the north property line, as the 
properties across the street do not share the same zoning (15-5.0301.D). 
Staff recommends conserving existing mature plants. 

 
A landscape plan will be provided at the time of submittal of detailed site 
and development plans. As noted, there is an existing mature landscape 
screen along the north property line, adjacent to West Drexel Avenue. This 
planting buffer will be maintained as part of this development.  

 
Fire Department Comments 

The Fire Department comments below will be addressed upon submittal of 
detailed development plans.  
 
• Follow all relevant WI DSPS and IBC code requirements for fire protection 

systems for given occupancy, use, and construction types. 
• Pre-existing fire alarm and fire sprinkler systems shall be maintained in 

compliance with relevant code.  
• Fire Extinguisher placement as per NFPA 10. 
• Fire Department Connection (FDC), and hydrant placement and density must 

be acceptable to AHJ (applies to new construction). 
• At no time may any Hazardous, Combustible, or Flammable Materials exceed 

allowable quantities.  
• Master Key set required for placement in Knox Box (if required). 



4 
 

• Permitting and submittal instructions for fire protection system review and 
inspection can be found at:                
https://www.franklinwi.gov/Departments/Fire.htm 

 
Engineering Comments 

Engineering comments will be addressed upon submittal of detailed 
development plans. It is understood that the Engineering Department must be 
contacted to discuss storm water, grading and erosion control.  
 
Engineering review aspects: Separate engineering submittal required 
• Complete and submit engineering and storm water management plan review 

application 
• 3 hard copies of plans, 1 hard copy of storm water management plan 

submitted to Engineering Dept 
o This site was part of a previously approved storm water management 

plan (SWMP) 
 The SWMP accounted for 79.93% impervious surface for the 

Shoppes at Wyndham Village development 
 Please contact Tyler Beinlich tbeinlich@franklinwi.gov 414-425-

7510 to obtain a copied of the previously approved SWMP. 
 

City Attorney’s Office 

• We need a more complete legal description. 
 

Lot 3 of Certified Survey Map No. 8567, recorded in the Office of the Register 
of Deeds for Milwaukee County, Wisconsin, on November 21, 2013. As 
Document No. 10315111; being a Redivision of Lot 1 of Certified Survey Map 
No. 8000, being a Redivision of Parcel 1 of Certified Survey Map 5762, 
Certified Survey Map No. 377, and lands in the Southwest Quarter and the 
Northwest Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of Section 8, Township 5 North, 
Range 21 East; said lands being in the City of Franklin, County of Milwaukee, 
State of Wisconsin.  

https://www.franklinwi.gov/Departments/Fire.htm
https://www.franklinwi.gov/Departments/Engineering-Public-Works/Engineering/Forms.htm
https://www.franklinwi.gov/Departments/Engineering-Public-Works/Engineering/Forms.htm
mailto:tbeinlich@franklinwi.gov




THRU
DRIVE

VANDO NOT ENTER

C

SIGN BASE, STONE VENEER TO

MATCH BUILDING, SIGN

CONTRACTOR TO COORDINATE

INSTALLATION WITH GENERAL

CONTRACTOR

BLACK MONUMENT CABINET

STONE VENEER TO

MATCH BUILDING

STEEL SUPPORT POLE

BLACK MONUMENT CABINET

C

TENANT SIGN

TENANT SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
D.T.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DIRECTIONAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING LOT LIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SINGLE LIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOUBLE LIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PATIO LIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRASH

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPING

AutoCAD SHX Text
W/ GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLANTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PATIO DINING

AutoCAD SHX Text
PATIO RAILING 

AutoCAD SHX Text
(WALKS-SITE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(SLABS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
GROSS LOT AREA:  =  69,864 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAVING AREA:     =    13,335 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURBING LIN. FT.   =    1,816 L.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE AREA:   =     665 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRADING:          =     940 YRDS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE AREA:   =    1,246 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
                            ( 1.60 ACRE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT PERIMETER:    =    1,062 L.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
(LIGHT DUTY)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAVING AREA:     =    22,554 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
(HEAVY DUTY)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(WALKS-CITY)

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE AREA:   =      N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
(SLABS-COOLER/FREEZER)

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE AREA:   =      N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
UTILITY RUNS;

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY:         =      90 L.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER:           =      115 L.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAS:             =       90 L.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEC./TEL.:        =     160 L.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM WATER:     =       N/A L.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
D.T.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MENU

AutoCAD SHX Text
PER-VIEW 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
(OPTIONAL)

AutoCAD SHX Text
D.T. CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text
(OPTIONAL)

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAG. LOOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
INDUCTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLAB

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLAB

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLAB

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRASH

AutoCAD SHX Text
VEHICLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEARANCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DAIRY QUEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRILL & CHILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORE46 BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEATING FOR 46

AutoCAD SHX Text
2,393 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING FOR 63

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
MONUMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURB CUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAIL BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
4,580 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAG. LOOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
INDUCTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHARED

AutoCAD SHX Text
MONUMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST DREXEL AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPICAL MONUMENT SIGNS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
THIS DRAWING, IT'S DESIGN, DETAIL AND INVENTION, ARE

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE PROPERTY OF INTERNATIONAL DAIRY QUEEN, INC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AND SHALL NOT BE COPIED IN ANY MANNER NOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DISCLOSED TO ANY OUTSIDE PARTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
WITHOUT I.D.Q.'S CONSENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEASIBILITY #1

AutoCAD SHX Text
#00000

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRANKLIN, WI

AutoCAD SHX Text
W. DREXEL AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DQ Grill & Chill

AutoCAD SHX Text
F-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
07.21.2023

AutoCAD SHX Text
S.Pithey



  

 1 

 C I T Y  O F  F R A N K L I N   

REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 

Meeting of September 7th, 2023 
Temporary Use 

 
 

RECOMMENDATION:  City Development staff recommends approval of the Temporary Use 
Application for Jay Lorino - Tuckaway Country Club to have a Golf Simulator Tent located in the rear 
parking lot of 6901 W. Drexel Avenue from 10/23/2023 to 03/30/2024. 
 

 

Project Name: Tuckaway Country Club Golf Simulator Tent   

Project Address: 6901 W. Drexel Avenue 

Property Owner: Tuckaway Country Club 

Applicant: Tuckaway Country Club 

Agent: Jay Lorino – Leading Edge Management Solutions, LLC 

Zoning: P-1 Park District 

Use of Surrounding Properties: Single Family and Multi-Family Residential 

Comprehensive Plan:  Recreational & Areas of Natural Resource Features 

Planner:  Anna Kissel, Planning Intern and Marion Ecks, Associate Planner 

Applicant Action Requested: Approval of a Temporary Use  
 

INTRODUCTION:  

On July 28, 2023, the applicant, Tuckaway Country Club, represented by Jay Lorino, filed a Temporary 
Use Application to locate a golf simulator tent in a section of the rear parking lot located at 6901 W. 
Drexel Avenue. The requested time period of the use is from 10/23/2023 to 03/30/2024. This 
temporary use permit requires Plan Commission approval because the requested period of operation 
is over 30 calendar days. 
 
The golf simulator tent will be in operation from 7:00 AM to 9:00 PM Monday through Sunday, with 
the possibility to extend operating hours to 11:59PM for special events as needed.   
 
Analysis 

City Development staff reviewed this application for compliance with the Unified Development 
Ordinance UDO) Section 15-3.0804.B “Temporary Miscellaneous Outdoor Sales.”  Staff comments are 
attached; the applicant has provided responses to these comments in Plan Commission materials. Staff 
has no concerns with the proposed location or overall ability of the site to accommodate the golf simulator 
tent and related parking.   

Item D.1. 



  

 2 

If approved, the temporary use permit will be valid from 10/23/2023 to 03/31/2024. A separate 
temporary use permit will be required for any operations beyond this time frame. 

The Franklin Health Department requires that the only beverage service provided must be limited to 
prepackaged cans and bottles unless there is approved hand wash available. If any exposed food, 
beverage or ice is handled or prepared in this area, handwash must be provided.  

 
Staff Recommendation 

Approval of the request for a Temporary Use for Tuckaway Country Club to have a golf simulator tent 
located in the parking lot at 6901 W. Drexel Avenue from 10/23/2023 to 03/31/2024, subject to the 
conditions set forth in the attached resolution. 
 



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
         PLAN COMMISSION 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-_____ 

 
A RESOLUTION IMPOSING CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS FOR THE 

APPROVAL OF A TEMPORARY USE FOR GOLF SIMULATOR TENT OPERATION 
IN A PARKING LOT LOCATED AT 6901 W. DREXEL AVENUE   
(JAY LORINO/TUCKAWAY COUNTRY CLUB, APPLICANTS) 

              
 
 WHEREAS, Jay Lorino/Tuckaway Country Club having petitioned the City of 
Franklin for the approval of a Temporary Use to allow for a golf simulator tent operation in a 
paved parking lot located at 6901 W Drexel Avenue, from October 23, 2023 to March 31, 
2024, with business hours from 7:00 a.m. to 9:00 p.m., Monday through Sunday, with the 
possibility to extend operating hours to 11:59 p.m. for special events as needed; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Plan Commission having found that the proposed Temporary Use, 
subject to conditions, meets the standards set forth under §15-3.0804 of the Unified 
Development Ordinance. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Plan Commission of the City of 
Franklin, Wisconsin, that the petition of Jay Lorino/Tuckaway Country Club for the approval 
of a Temporary Use to allow for a golf simulator tent operation, for the property particularly 
described in the preamble to this Resolution, be and the same is hereby approved, subject to 
the following conditions and restrictions: 
 

1. The approval granted hereunder shall allow for such use from October 23, 2023 to 
March 31, 2024, with business hours from 7:00 a.m. to 9:00 p.m., Monday through 
Sunday, with the possibility to extend operating hours to 11:59 p.m. for special events 
as needed. 

2. The golf simulator tent shall be located generally as shown on the Site Plan provided 
(Exhibit 1), City file-stamped July 28, 2023.  

3. This Temporary Use approval is contingent on the applicant receiving all applicable 
licenses/permits through the City of Franklin. This includes, but not limited to, all 
necessary licenses/permits which are required through the Building Inspection 
Department, Clerks Office, and Health Department.  

 
 
 
 
 



JAY LORINO/TUCKAWAY COUNTRY CLUB – TEMPORARY USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-____ 
Page 2 
 

 Introduced at a regular meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of Franklin this 
_______ day of ____________________, 2023. 
 

Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of 
Franklin this _______ day of ____________________, 2023. 

 
 
APPROVED: 

 
 
       _________________________________  
       John Nelson, Chairman 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________       
Karen Kastenson, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 
 
 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

6901 W. Drexel Ave.
TKN 804 9989 022

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

R-3 
P-1 

FW  

R-6 

R-6 

P-1 
P-1 

PDD 

R-3 

R-5 
R-8 

R-6 

PDD C-1 

R-8 

P-1 
PDD P-1 

R-4 

PDD 

R-3 R-3 

R-8 

B-2 

R-8 

R-3 R-7 
P-1 R-5 

R-3 

R-3 

C-1 

C-1 
R-5 

R-8 

R-3 

C-1 

R-3 

C-1 

R-3 
I-1 

I-1 

R-5 RIVER TERRACE
DR

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 1,000 2,000500 Feet

Property

 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

6901 W. Drexel Ave.
TKN 804 9989 022

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

76
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

DREXEL                         AVE  

68
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

 

RIVER TERRACE
DR

FOX HAVEN CT

77
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

 

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 1,000 2,000500 Feet

Property

 


















































	01 2023-0907 Plan Commission Agenda
	02 2023-0817 PC Minutes - Draft
	03 Item C.1._Dairy Queen_Special Use
	01 2023-0907 PC Rpt - 7730 Dairy Queen Drive Thru SU 
	CITY OF FRANKLIN

	02 2023-0907 RES - 7730 Dairy Queen Drive Thru SU 
	03 Planning Map_Combined
	Planning Map_Aerial
	Planning Map_Locator

	04 Drive-Through Special Use Resubmittal_Combined
	1. Drive-Through Special Use Project Narrative
	2. Common Council Review Application_SU
	DT special use appl.pdf

	3. Responses to SU Standards and Regulations
	DT special use appl.pdf

	4. 2023-08-11 Staff Comments - 7730 Dairy Queen Drive Thru SU_Applicant Responses
	5. image002 (1)
	6. Franklin WI-Wydham F1
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1




	04 Item D.1._Tuckaway Country Club_Temporary Use
	01 PC Report Tuckaway CC Golf Simulator Tent_TU_6901 W Drexel Ave
	CITY OF FRANKLIN

	02 RES Tuckaway CC Golf Simulator Tent TU 08-29-23
	03 Planning Map_Combined
	Planning Map_Aerial
	Planning Map_Locator

	04 Final TCC-Temporary Use


